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IN THE 
UNITED STATED DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 
Alexandria Division 

 
GILBERTO CINTO,      ) 
        ) 
and        )      
        ) 
JOSE MORALES      )     
        ) 
On behalf of themselves and others similarly-situated )     
        )     
  Plaintiffs,     )                 
        ) Case No.  
        ) 
v.        ) 
        ) 
BDR HOSPITALITY, LLC,    )  
        )  
and        ) 
        ) 
WILLIAM ORELLANA,     ) 
        ) 
  Defendants.     ) 
        ) 
________________________________________________)  
 
Serve: BDR Hospitality, LLC 
 James E. Moyler, Title Managing Menber 
 533 Fair Fax Way 
 Williamsburg, VA 23185 
 
Serve: WILLIAM ORELLANA 
 533 Fair Fax Way 
 Williamsburg, VA 23185 

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

 COME NOW Plaintiffs, GILBERTO CINTO (“CINTO”), and JOSE MORALES 

(“MORALES”), by counsel, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, and file 

this Collective Action Complaint against Defendants BDR HOSPITALITY, LLC (“BDR”), and 
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WILLIAM ORELLANA (“Orellana”) pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as 

amended. 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. ("FLSA"). 

 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT  

1. Plaintiffs, who are Spanish-speaking workers with little or no fluency in either spoken or 

written English, bring this action on behalf of themselves and a class of other similarly-

situated employees (the “Plaintiff Class”) to require Defendants to pay back wages owed 

to them and to the Plaintiff Class, which Defendants failed to pay in violation of § 7 of 

the FLSA. The named Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class are collectively referred to herein 

as “Plaintiffs.” Plaintiffs seek permanent injunctive relief and damages for themselves 

and all class members.  

2. From on or about June 2016 until on or about August 2016, the named Plaintiffs were 

employed jointly by Defendants BDR Hospitality, LLC, and William Orellana. Plaintiffs’ 

work for Defendants was to perform carpentry, cleaning, and flooring work at 

Millennium Hotel Durham located at 2800 Campus Walk Ave., Durham, NC 27705 (“the 

hotel”). Similarly-situated employees have been employed by Defendants to perform 

these tasks for periods beginning on or about June 2016, through on or about August 

2016. Defendants employed between 45 and 50 employees at the hotel to perform these 

manual tasks. Plaintiffs and other similarly-situated employees routinely worked more 

than 40 hours per week. The named Plaintiffs worked more than 60 hours a week for a 

period beginning on or before June 2014 and ending on or after August 2016. Defendants 

failed to pay Plaintiffs and other similarly-situated employees an overtime premium of 
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one and one-half times their regular rates of pay for their hours worked over 40 in any 

workweek.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This Court has jurisdiction of Plaintiffs’ claims pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.; 29 

U.S.C. § 216, 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1337(a). 

4. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(ii) because the Defendants transact 

business in this District, Defendants employed the named Plaintiffs and the Class 

Plaintiffs in this District, and some of the actions complained of were conducted within 

this District. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiffs Gilberto Cinto, and Jose Morales, (hereinafter “named Plaintiffs”) are former 

non-exempt employees of Defendants who earned, but did not receive, compensation at 

the overtime rate of 1 ½ times their regular rates of pay for hours worked over 40 in some 

or all the weeks they worked for Defendants.  

6. The class of similarly-situated employees (hereinafter “Class Plaintiffs”) are or were non-

exempt employees of Defendants who earned but did not receive an overtime premium 

for hours they worked over 40 in some or all the weeks they worked for Defendants.  

7. The named Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class were during all relevant times “employees” 

as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. §203 (e). 

8. The work of the named Plaintiffs and the Plaintiff Class regularly involved them in 

commerce between States ("interstate commerce"). The FLSA covers individual workers, 
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like the named Plaintiffs and the members of the Plaintiff Class, who are "engaged in 

commerce or in the production of goods for commerce." 

9. The Defendant BDR is a foreign corporation formed and existing under the laws of the State 

of Delaware and, during Plaintiffs’ employment, Defendant BDR was an employer as 

defined by 29 U.S.C. §203 (d). Defendant was a “joint employer” of Plaintiffs with 

Defendant Orellana and was a “person acting directly or indirectly in the interest of an 

employer in relation to an employee.” 29 U.S.C. §203 (d).    

10. Defendant BDR has had two (2) or more employees who have regularly handled and worked 

on goods and/or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce, such as 

machines, equipment, tools, supplies and cleaning products that were transported or produced 

out-of-state.  

11. Defendant Orellana at all times hereto was the “employer” as that term is defined by 29 

U.S.C. §203 (d). In particular, Defendant Orellana, who is employed by Defendant BDR as a 

Title Manager, appeared on a frequent, almost daily basis at worksites where Plaintiffs and 

other similarly-situated employees worked, and controlled significant aspects of the 

operations of Defendant BDR, including the hiring and firing of employees.  

12. At all times relevant, Defendant Orellana has had two (2) or more employees who have 

regularly handled and worked on goods and/or materials that have been moved in or 

produced for commerce, such as machines, equipment, tools, supplies and cleaning supplies 

that were transported or produced out-of-state.  

13. In establishing the unlawful pay scheme at issue in this case and in misclassifying the 

Plaintiffs and other similarly-situated employees as independent contractors, Defendants 

BDR and Orellana were motivated by their desire to avoid paying an overtime premium to 

Plaintiffs and other similarly-situated employees as required by the FLSA.  
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14. Based on information and belief, at all relevant times Defendants’ annual gross sales volume 

as defined by the FLSA has exceeded $500,000 per year.    

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

15. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and an 

opt-in class of all persons who were or are hourly non-exempt employees and who earned, 

but did not receive, compensation for time worked, including but not limited to overtime pay 

from Defendants. 

a) The named Plaintiffs are adequate class representatives because they are directly 

impacted by Defendants’ actions. The interests of the named Plaintiffs are not 

antagonistic to, or in conflict with, the interests of the class as a whole. The attorney 

representing the class is experienced in representing clients in federal litigation. 

b) Common questions of law and fact are involved, including questions posed by 

Plaintiffs’ allegations that Defendants failed to pay an overtime premium in violation 

of § 7 of the FLSA to former non-exempt employees of Defendants who earned, but 

did not receive, overtime pay from Defendants. 

c) Claims of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the class because all class 

members and the named Plaintiffs are affected by Defendants’ conduct. 

d) Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making 

appropriate final declaratory and injunctive relief with respect to the class as a whole. 

e) Common questions of law or fact predominate over any questions affecting only 

individual members, and a class action is superior to other available methods for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. 
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f) The named Plaintiffs are similarly situated to the class members in terms of job 

responsibilities, title, and employment dates as they were or are all laborers who 

provided manual services to the Defendants, and who were denied compensation for 

time and one-half overtime wages by Defendants. 

FACTS 

16. Defendant BDR hired the named Plaintiffs and the members of the Plaintiff Class by 

retaining the services of Defendant Orellana. 

17. Plaintiffs and the members of the Plaintiff Class provide or have provided manual labor 

at Millennium Hotel Durham located at 2800 Campus Walk Ave., Durham, NC 27705. 

18. The named Plaintiffs regularly worked more than forty hours in almost every week they 

worked during their employment by Defendants.  

19. Defendants failed to maintain time records for all of Plaintiffs’ hours worked1.  

20. Defendants improperly designated the named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs as 

independent contractors, when in fact Defendant BDR and Defendant Orellana shared, 

agreed to allocate responsibility for, or otherwise codetermined—formally or informally, 

directly or indirectly—the essential terms and conditions of the employment of the named 

                                                 
1 § 211(c) Records  
Every employer subject to any provision of this chapter or of any order issued under this 
chapter shall make, keep, and preserve such records of the persons employed by him and 
of the wages, hours, and other conditions and practices of employment maintained by him, 
and shall preserve such records for such periods of time, and shall make such reports 
therefrom to the Administrator as he shall prescribe by regulation or order as necessary or 
appropriate for the enforcement of the provisions of this chapter or the regulations or orders 
thereunder. The employer of an employee who performs substitute work described in 
section 207 (p)(3) of this title may not be required under this subsection to keep a record of 
the hours of the substitute work.  
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Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs. See Salinas v. Commercial Interiors, Inc., 848 F.3d 125 

(4th Cir. 2017).  

a) Formally or as a matter of practice, the joint employers Defendants BDR and 

Orellana jointly determined, shared, or allocated the power to direct, control, or 

supervise the named Plaintiffs, whether by direct or indirect means. Defendant BDR 

employed a supervisor named “Donovan Klingman” as Plaintiffs’ manager, and 

Defendant BDR routinely gave Plaintiffs indirect orders and instructions through 

Donovan Klingman. Donovan Klingman inspected Plaintiffs’ work every day and 

gave them specific, daily instructions as to the manner and means for completing their 

work.  

b) Formally or as a matter of practice, Defendants jointly determined, shared, or 

allocated the power to—directly or indirectly—hire or fire the Plaintiffs or modify the 

terms or conditions of their employment. Defendants jointly determined Plaintiffs’ 

working hours, and Defendant BDR established when Plaintiffs should start and stop 

work. Defendant BDR provided Plaintiffs with the same timesheets provided to 

employees who were formally and officially BDR employees. Defendant BDR 

provided workers’ compensation insurance for Plaintiff Morales. Defendant BDR 

determined the hourly rates paid to Plaintiffs Morales and Cinto. 

c) The work of Plaintiffs was always performed on premises owned or controlled by 

Defendant BDR, namely at Millennium Hotel Durham located at 2800 Campus Walk 

Ave., Durham, NC 27705. 

d) Formally and as a matter of practice Defendant BDR provided the facilities, 

equipment, tools, or materials necessary to complete the work performed by 
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Plaintiffs. For example, Defendant BDR provided Plaintiff Morales with all supplies, 

tools and equipment needed for painting, including paint, paint brushes, drop cloths 

and turpentine. Defendant BDR provided Plaintiff Cinto with all equipment and 

supplies required for framing work, including finishing mixture, metal framing, and 

all chemicals used for framing.    

21.  Plaintiffs were “economically dependent” on Defendants BDR and Orellana such that 

they are properly classified as employees instead of independent contractors of the joint 

employers, Defendants BDR and Orellana.  

a) The joint employers Defendants BDR and Orellana exercised a high degree of control 

over the manner in which the Plaintiffs’ work was performed, directed their daily 

tasks, instructed them to perform specific tasks, and prioritized their tasks.   

b) Plaintiffs’ duties consisted entirely of routine, manual work, and they had absolutely 

no opportunities for profit or loss dependent on their managerial skill. 

c)  Plaintiffs had no investment in equipment or material and did not employ any other 

workers. 

d) The degree of skill required for Plaintiffs’ work was minimal.  

e) For the period of their employment there was a permanent and exclusive working. 

relationship between Plaintiffs and Defendants.  

f) To a very high degree the services rendered by Plaintiffs are an integral part of 

Defendants’ business. 
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OVERTIME COMPENSATION 

22. Defendants routinely and consistently required the named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs 

to work over forty hours per week. 

23. The FLSA requires an employer to pay its employees at a rate of at least one and one-half 

times their regular rate of pay for time worked in one work week over forty hours. This is 

commonly known as the time-and-a-half pay for overtime work. 

24. Despite working overtime, the named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs were not paid time 

and one-half pay from Defendants for overtime worked. 

CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Fair Labor Standards Act) 

25. The foregoing paragraphs are included herein as though fully set forth herein. 

26. Defendants regularly engages in commerce and its employees handle and use goods, 

which have moved in interstate commerce. 

27. At all relevant times, Defendants were and are employers within the meaning of the 

FLSA and are subject to the provisions of the FLSA. 

28. The named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs at all relevant times were employees of 

Defendants, as defined by the FLSA. 

29. During the time that the named Plaintiffs and the Class Plaintiffs were employed by 

Defendants, the named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs performed regular, scheduled 

overtime work for which no additional compensation was paid to them by Defendants in 

violation of the provisions of the FLSA. More specifically, Defendants violated § 7 of the 

FLSA by failing to pay time and one-half overtime wages to hourly non-exempt 
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employees, including the named Plaintiffs and the members of the Plaintiff Class who 

earned overtime pay. 

30. Upon information and belief, the Defendants’ pay system was unilaterally imposed upon 

the named Plaintiffs and the Class Plaintiffs. 

31. The Defendants’ failure to properly administer a scheme of compensation violates the 

overtime provisions of the FLSA and the regulations thereunder. 

32. As a result of the Defendants’ willful and knowing failure to properly compensate the 

named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs, those Plaintiffs have suffered substantial delays in 

receipt of wages owed and damages. 

33. The Defendants’ failure to properly administer a compensation scheme for overtime was 

a willful and knowing violation of the FLSA. 

34. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §§ 207 and 216, Defendants owe the named Plaintiffs and Class 

Plaintiffs compensation for their overtime work, an additional equal amount as liquidated 

damages, together with an additional sum for attorney’s fees and costs. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs seek judgment against Defendants as 

follows: 

1. That the Court certify the instant suit as an opt-in class action under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b); 

2. That the Court declare the rights and duties of the parties consistent with the relief sought 

by Plaintiffs; 

3. That the Court issue a declaratory judgment that Defendants’ acts, policies, practices and 

procedures complained of herein violated provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act;  
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4.  That Defendants be enjoined from further violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act; 

5.  That the named Plaintiffs and Class Plaintiffs recover unpaid overtime wages together 

with an equal amount of liquidated damages as provided under the law and in 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b);  

6.  That the named Plaintiff and the Class Plaintiffs recover an award of reasonable 

attorney’s fees, costs, and expenses; 

7. That the Court order the Defendants to make whole the named Plaintiffs and Class 

Plaintiffs by providing appropriate back pay and other benefits wrongly denied in an 

amount to be shown at trial and other affirmative relief; 

8. Plaintiffs further pray for such additional relief as the interests of justice may require.  

PLAINTIFFS DEMAND TRIAL BY JURY ON ALL ISSUES SO TRIABLE 

Respectfully submitted,   
 
 
GILBERTO CINTO and JOSE MORALES on behalf of themselves and all others similarly 
situated, 
 
  
      By Counsel 
 
 
By: _____________/s/________________________ 
 THOMAS F. HENNESSY (VSB No. 32850) 
 Counsel for Plaintiffs 
 4015 Chain Bridge Road, Suite G 
 Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
 Phone: (703) 865-8836 
 Fax:  (703) 865-7633 
 th@virginiawage.net 
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Operators of Millennium Hotel Durham Facing Unpaid Overtime Lawsuit
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